Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

Behavioural Brain Research 226 (2012) 579-591

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Review

### Behavioural Brain Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbr

# Parallel contributions of cerebellar, striatal and M1 mechanisms to motor sequence learning

### Virginia B. Penhune\*, Christopher J. Steele

Laboratory for Motor Learning and Neural Plasticity, Department of Psychology, Concordia University, Canada

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 August 2011 Received in revised form 27 September 2011 Accepted 30 September 2011 Available online 6 October 2011

Keywords: Motor learning Motor control Internal model Motor representation Motor memory Chunking

### ABSTRACT

When learning a new motor sequence, we must execute the correct order of movements while simultaneously optimizing sensorimotor parameters such as trajectory, timing, velocity and force. Neurophysiological studies in animals and humans have identified the major brain regions involved in sequence learning, including the motor cortex (M1), basal ganglia (BG) and cerebellum. Current models link these regions to different stages of learning (early vs. late) or different components of performance (spatial vs. sensorimotor). At the same time, research in motor control has given rise to the concept that internal models at different levels of the motor system may contribute to learning. The goal of this review is to develop a new framework for motor sequence learning that combines stage and component models within the context of internal models. To do this, we review behavioral and neuroimaging studies in humans and neurophysiological studies in animals. Based on this evidence, we present a model proposing that sequence learning is underwritten by parallel, interacting processes, including internal model formation and sequence representation, that are instantiated in specific cerebellar, BG or M1 mechanisms depending on task demands and the stage of learning. The striatal system learns predictive stimulus-response associations and is critical for motor chunking. The role of the cerebellum is to acquire the optimal internal model for sequence performance in a particular context, and to contribute to error correction and control of on-going movement. M1 acts to store the representation of a learned sequence, likely as part of a distributed network including the parietal lobe and premotor cortex.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

### Contents

1.	Introduction	579
2.	What is motor sequence learning?	580
3.	Implicit vs. explicit learning	581
4.	Theoretical models of motor sequence learning	581
5.	Behavioral evidence for different components of motor sequence learning	582
6.	Neuroimaging evidence for stages and different components of motor sequence learning	584
7.	What does the cerebellum do? – forward models of the sensory consequences of action	585
8.	What does the striatum do? – probabilistic learning and movement chunking	587
9.	What does M1 do? – representation and storage	587
10.	How do the cerebellum, BG and M1 work together?	588
	Acknowledgements	589
	References	589

### 1. Introduction

When making a jump shot from 15 feet out, a basketball player seamlessly performs a sequence of actions – set, jump and release – that must be perfectly coordinated to put the ball through the hoop. To execute the shot, the player must order the movements correctly, but most importantly, optimize the timing, force and trajectory of the individual components. When an athlete first learns

Tel.: +1 514 848 2424x7535; fax: +1 514 848 4523.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Department of Psychology, SP-A 244, Concordia University, 7141 Sherbrooke, W, Montreal, QC H4B 1R6, Canada.

E-mail address: Virginia.penhune@concordia.ca (V.B. Penhune).

<sup>0166-4328/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.09.044

the shot, the sequence of movements is disjointed, poorly controlled and requires enormous attention to execute. After many hours of practice, the individual components become smooth, efficient and can be executed on the fly, even in the heat of a game.

The kinds of complex sequences performed in professional sports or music are difficult to study in the laboratory, but over the last 15-20 years neuroscientists have used simpler tasks to examine how humans learn motor sequences, and the brain mechanisms that underlie this learning [1-7]. Behavioral studies have generally agreed that sequence learning occurs in partially separable stages: an early phase where changes are rapid, a consolidation phase where the sequence becomes resistant to interference, and a slow-learning phase where movement timing, kinematics and dynamics are optimized [8-10]. Brain imaging and other neurophysiological studies in animals and humans have identified the major brain networks involved in sequence learning, including motor and premotor regions, basal ganglia, cerebellum and parietal cortex [3,4,6,7,11]. Models attempting to link these brain mechanisms to different stages of learning have recently been developed, and propose that distinct cortico-striatal and cortico-cerebellar loops are associated with learning at different stages [3,4]. These models use a general cognitive framework, and take less account of theories of motor control. Other models of motor sequence learning have also focused on the contributions of striatal and cerebellar circuits, but have linked them to learning of different components of performance, such as spatial location and speed [2,6]. These component models have not been widely extended to neuroimaging data in humans, and do not include learning of other motor parameters such as velocity, force and timing. Finally, data from the field of motor control and motor adaptation have generated detailed information about how internal models at different levels of the motor system (i.e., cerebellum and parietal cortex) may contribute to learning by integrating motor and sensory information to update existing motor programs or create new ones [11–13]. Theories incorporating internal models are highly influential in the domain of motor control and adaptation, but have not typically been integrated into theories of motor sequence learning. Therefore, the goal of the present review is to integrate stage and component models of motor sequence learning, and to frame this in terms of the contribution of brain networks instantiating internal models. To do this, we will review behavioral and neuroimaging studies that demonstrate that sequence learning can be separated into spatial/sequential and motor control components [6,14-18], and that show that learning of these components is supported by different brain mechanisms [19–23]. Finally, we will show how learning of different components can be understood in terms of the contributions of internal models to error processing and representation of learned sequences. Based on our own data, we will give an example of how the contributions of these mechanisms change with learning in the cerebellum, striatum and M1. Finally, we present a model proposing that sequence learning is underwritten by parallel, interacting processes, such as error correction, internal model formation, stimulus-response association and sequence representation, that are instantiated in specific cerebellar, striatal or M1 mechanisms. Therefore, the ensemble of regions that are engaged at a particular phase of learning depends on task demands that call upon these specific mechanisms.

### 2. What is motor sequence learning?

Motor sequence learning is the acquisition and optimization of a novel series of inter-related movements. During initial acquisition the order of movements is learned and with continued practice the motor parameters are optimized, resulting in accurate and efficient performance. A large number of studies have addressed how sequence order is acquired, focusing on implicit and explicit learning mechanisms [1,7]. However – as in the example of the jump shot – we believe that the fundamental problem for the motor learning system is not simply acquiring the order of movements, but in optimizing the entire sequence for successful performance.

Most studies of motor sequence learning examine the acquisition of novel sequences of simple movements and look for changes in accuracy of the sequential order and improvements in speed. Sequence learning is often contrasted with motor adaptation, where a known movement is adapted to a changed environment, as in learning to drive a new car or adapting to physical changes following an injury. Although this review is focused on motor sequence learning, we will integrate some relevant experimental and theoretical information from studies of motor adaptation.

The most common paradigm for studying motor sequence learning is the serial reaction time task (SRT) in which participants learn a sequence of key-press movements in response to a visual cue [7,24]. Improvements in performance on this task are measured by decreases in the number of errors and shortening of reaction time. A related task, where subjects learn to tap a series of locations on a square grid ( $2 \times N$ ), was developed for testing sequence learning in both animals and humans [25,26]. Another commonly used task is the finger-to-thumb opposition task, in which participants practice a short sequence of finger-to-thumb movements with the goal of performing as quickly and accurately as possible [27]. Finally, other tasks have been developed to test learning of a sequence of reaching movements [15,28], force-pulses [29,30], and eye movements [31,32].

Learning in motor sequence tasks is generally assessed in terms of changes in the number of errors, changes in reaction time (RT) in response to a cue, and/or in the overall time to execute the sequence. In most tasks, improvements in error occur relatively rapidly, while RT improves more slowly. Error is usually operationalized as the wrong movement at the wrong time, but in some tasks it may represent overall deviation from a desired movement profile [28–30]. Changes in RT with learning can be absolute, as in the finger-to-thumb opposition task, where change in the speed of execution of the entire sequence is measured, or relative, as in the SRT, where changes in RT for a learned sequence are compared to performance of an equal-length sequence of randomly cued responses.

A significant theoretical issue in this domain is how to separate changes in learning of the sequence of responses per se from changes in implementation or performance that occur with practice [7,33,34]. A newly acquired sequence of movements is slow, inaccurate, and jerky, whereas a well-learned sequence is fast, accurate and smooth. Therefore, if performance changes with practice, it is difficult to know whether this change is related to an enhanced neural representation of the sequence or simply to more efficient implementation. A number of different methods have been used to try to control for changes in performance including: comparison with a baseline matched for speed [34]; fixed timing [21-23,27,35] and using a distractor task to prevent changes in performance during learning of the sequence [33,36]. These types of controls are critically important to assessing changes specific to the representation of the sequence. However, they do not address another basic issue, which is that in motor learning, changes in performance are changes in learning. The problem in perfecting a jump shot is not primarily whether to jump or shoot first, but in executing the sequence skillfully enough to get the job done. What the brain must encode during learning is not just a representation of the sequential order of movements, but a set of optimal movement implementation parameters. Learning of sequences and the adaptation of movement likely occur simultaneously [20,37]. In this review, we propose that acquisition and representation of sequential order and

motor optimization are partially separable, but that the learned sequence is a dynamically changing, integrated representation.

### 3. Implicit vs. explicit learning

Within the field of motor sequence learning, there is long tradition of research focused on separating the behavioral and neural correlates of implicit and explicit learning. This originated with the finding that amnesic patients, like HM, showed preserved motor learning [38,39]. Subsequent research has systematically examined the hypothesis that motor learning predominantly taps the implicit or procedural memory system and does not require explicit processing [1,7]. These studies use tasks where explicit awareness of the sequence is restricted such that only implicit mechanisms can operate. Explicit control of learning is minimized by using concatenated sequences [24], dual-task paradigms that distract attention [33,36], or learning of higher-order sequences that cannot be identified explicitly [40]. In these tasks, what is likely learned is the probabilistic association of a series of motor responses based on preceding responses and/or the cuing stimuli. Some brain imaging and patient studies have suggested that the BG system plays a specialized role in implicit learning; and its contribution has been hypothesized to be based on striatal mechanisms involved in associative learning [7,41-43]. Other models propose that during explicit learning anterior frontal lobe is engaged early, with motor cortical regions engaged later, and that conversely, during implicit learning, motor cortical regions are engaged early, with frontal regions implicated later [1].

This work has generated important information about purely implicit mechanisms for acquiring a sequence of responses, but in most real-world situations motor learning is not purely implicit. When we learn to tie our shoes, we learn the sequence of movements through both more explicit (teaching) and more implicit (practice) means. However, we also learn in ways that combine both, such as observation and trial and error. Practice then produces improvements in execution through relatively implicit or procedural means. Thus, the movement sequence is acquired through both implicit and explicit means, but what is acquired largely implicitly is the set of motor control parameters required for skilled performance.

Another issue not usually addressed by studies focused on separating implicit and explicit processing is that particular behavioral measures of learning may tap into more or less explicit/implicit aspects of performance. Stimulus–response associations, such as cue-response mapping or spatial location, are more open to explicit control, whereas optimization of movement parameters such as speed, timing and co-articulation are largely implicit. Finally, and most importantly, the contributions of implicit and explicit control factors may change across learning depending on task demands. As will be described below, we and others have begun to separate different components of learning that rely on more or less explicit and implicit processes [11,15,19,20,25]. However, we will argue in this review that a comprehensive model of motor skill learning should include an integrated contribution of both explicit and implicit processes.

### 4. Theoretical models of motor sequence learning

Models of motor sequence learning have generally converged around the concept that there are separable stages of acquisition that can be identified from behavioral data and that are under the control of specific brain networks [6,7,11,27,35,44] (Fig. 1). First, there is an early phase where improvements in performance are rapid and explicit executive control and memory processes may be required. Then, there is a consolidation phase where performance may show incremental improvements and/or become resistant to interference. Consolidation is thought to be dependent on both sleep and the passage of time [45-48]. Third, there is a slow learning phase where performance is optimized. This phase is also described as the "automatization" phase, based on the idea that with extended practice performance becomes less attentionally demanding and/or can be performed entirely implicitly [4,35]. Delayed recall of motor sequences has been less frequently examined, but studies that have tested retention have shown that performance is often surprisingly robust over long periods of time [17,21,49,50]. These putative stages of motor sequence learning are identifiable in many behavioral studies, but how well the pattern of performance changes fits the stage model is quite variable and task-dependent.

Based on this general pattern of behavioral findings, Doyon has developed an influential model (see Fig. 1, Panel A) where changes in performance across stages of learning are framed in terms of the differential contributions of cortical-cerebellar and cortical-striatal loops [3,4,51]. In this model, early rapid changes in performance are attributed to both cortico-cerebellar and corticostriatal mechanisms. Learning during the early stage also includes possible contributions from frontal and hippocampal executive control and memory mechanisms in tasks where learning is under explicit control. Following early learning, striatal mechanisms are proposed to contribute specifically to consolidation of learned sequences. Finally, sequence retention is hypothesized to be supported by a network including the striatum, motor and parietal cortices. This model also addresses learning in motor adaptation tasks, and its strength is that it proposes global mechanisms that contribute to specific stages in both sequence learning and adaptation tasks.



In contrast, other theories of motor sequence learning have focused on understanding the neural mechanisms required to

**Fig. 1.** This figure illustrates the stage (Panel A) and component (Panel B) models of motor sequence learning. These illustrations are adapted from similar figures from Doyon et al. [3] and Hikosaka et al. [6]. Both figures have been adapted to focus on structures relevant for motor sequence learning.

learn different task components; separating learning of the spatial/sequential/kinematic order of movements and learning of movement dynamics, such as speed, timing and sensorimotor integration [2,6]. Hikosaka and colleagues have proposed that learning of these components proceeds in parallel, but that they have different times courses and are controlled by different corticostriatal and cortico-cerebellar loop circuits (see Fig. 1, panel B). They suggest that the spatial/sequential/kinematic component, expressed in terms of accuracy, is learned more quickly and is under more explicit control. This component is dependent on circuits linking frontal, parietal and premotor regions with caudate and lateral cerebellar association areas. On the other hand, the dynamic/motor control component, expressed in terms of changes in speed and other motor parameters, occurs more slowly and is under less explicit control. Learning of this component is controlled by circuits linking motor cortical regions with the putamen and midline cerebellar regions. In addition, they propose that reward-based learning in striatum and error-based learning in cerebellum would contribute to shaping responses. This model predicts that performance improvements during early learning are dominated by circuits mediating spatial/sequential learning (based on more explicit reward-based learning) while those of later learning are predominantly influenced by mechanisms more relevant for motor optimization (based on error-based learning). More recently, stage theories have begun to incorporate ideas from component models [17,23,34] and in this review we propose a model where stages of learning are understood in terms of the differential rate of acquisition of specific components depending on task demands.

# 5. Behavioral evidence for different components of motor sequence learning

Research on motor skill learning in our laboratory has focused primarily on understanding the neural mechanisms important for optimizing performance, rather than on those required to learn sequential order. In other words, we are interested in understanding how the athlete perfects the jump shot once the sequence of movements is known. To do this, we have used a variety of tasks where the sequence to be learned is more or less explicitly available, and have focused on changes in motor performance. We have drawn on both the stage and component models of learning in our studies of younger and older adults, children, and trained musicians. Overall, our findings support the idea that there are partially separable behavioral components in learning, and that these components are controlled by distinct brain mechanisms. In the following section we review evidence that shows that the spatial/sequential vs. motor control components of learning show different time-scales of acquisition, are more or less susceptible to delay, show differential changes across development, and are differently affected by musical training. In the second section, we review brain imaging data that demonstrate that different brain networks may contribute to learning of these components. Finally, based on these data, we will try to integrate the stage and component models into a framework for motor sequence learning. This framework is centered on the idea that there are parallel interacting contributions of cerebellar, striatal, or motor cortical mechanisms depending on the stage of learning and the component of the sequence being learned.

We have used two different variants of the SRT in our laboratory. The timed motor sequence task (TMST; see Fig. 2, panel A) requires participants to tap in synchrony with a complex 10element sequence of short and long duration visual cues [17]. Performance gains on this task are assessed by comparing the learned sequence with a simple sequence that contains the same number of short and long duration taps. This task requires only a single finger response, allowing us to assess optimization of a sequence of movements that does not include spatial processing. The multiple finger sequence task (MFST; see Fig. 2, panel B) is very similar to the SRT, where participants reproduce a 10-13 element sequence in response to a set of visual cues using four fingers of the right hand [16,52]. Performance gains on this task are assessed by comparing the learned sequence with a random baseline. Finally, we have used an auditory rhythm synchronization task to allow us to generalize beyond the visuomotor synchronization domain to musical rhythm production [53]. For both tasks performance is measured in terms of accuracy (i.e., the correct order of responses) and response synchronization (i.e., how well responses are synchronized with the stimuli). We consider the accuracy measure to represent the sequential/spatial component of the task that is more directly under explicit control, and the synchrony measure to represent the motor control component of the task that is less directly under explicit control. The duration of stimuli and interstimulus intervals remain fixed in these tasks to



Fig. 2. This figure illustrates the TMST (Panel A) and MFST (Panel B) sequence learning paradigms developed in our laboratory. The sequence types, visually presented stimuli, and response methods are shown.

ensure that changes in synchronization performance that occur with learning are not related to overall changes in movement speed.

Based on work in both animals and humans, Hikosaka et al. [6] proposed that the sequential/spatial component of a sequence was learned more rapidly than the motor control component. Consistent with this, across different studies using both the TMST and MFST, we have found that gains in accuracy reach a plateau after 2-3 days of training whereas synchronization continues to change across additional days of practice. Why might there be differences in the time-frame of learning of these two components? First, accuracy may be easier to learn because the cue and the response in this domain have a direct one-to-one mapping, even in the TMST where the association is between a time interval (short or long) and the response. In contrast, mapping of a well-synchronized response is less direct, with many motor parameters such as timing, velocity and force contributing to performance. This is consistent with behavioral and neuroimaging studies showing that complexity of stimulus-response associations affects sequence learning [54]. Differences in the time-frame of learning may also result from the simple fact that without an accurate spatial/sequential profile, motor control components cannot be optimized [15]. Interestingly, our results show that this is true for learning a sequence with no

spatial component. This is also consistent with evidence from adaptation learning indicating that there are interacting fast and slow components of learning [55].

In long-term learning studies in animals, Hikosaka also showed that the two components of performance were retained differently [25]. Consistent with this, we varied the length of delay between learning and recall of the TMST from 1 to 6 weeks (Fig. 3, Panel A). We found that while all delays affected synchronization performance, only the longest delay affected accuracy [17]. This indicates that the spatial/sequential component is better retained, and that the motor control component requires on-going practice for maintenance. These findings make sense if we again think of the spatial/sequential component as more explicit, with a one-to-one mapping that is easier to recall. In contrast, the motor control component is less explicit and requires integration of multiple parameters for accurate performance and thus is more susceptible to degradation or interference with delay.

Further evidence for the separability of different components of learning comes from a study in which we tested three groups of children (ages 6, 8 and 10) on the MFST across two days of practice [16] (Fig. 3, Panel B). All age groups were able to learn the task, and similar to adults, accuracy improved more quickly than synchronization. For the accuracy measure, we found that after



**Fig. 3.** TMST and MFST behavioral findings. Panel A shows the results of experiments examining the effect of variable delay on retention of the TMST in young adults [17]. Results showed that percent correct performance (left) is affected only by the longest delay, whereas response synchronization is affected by all delays (right). Panel B shows the results of an experiment examining learning of the MFST in 6, 8 and 10-year-old children compared to adults [16]. Results showed that for percent correct performance (left) only 6-year-olds performed worse than adults by the end of the second day of practice, whereas for response synchronization (right) all children still performed worse than adults at the end of the second day.

two days of practice all except the youngest group were able to perform at adult levels. In contrast, for synchronization, all children performed less well than adults throughout training. These results suggest that the brain mechanisms required for learning of the sequential/spatial component of the task develop earlier than those required for motor control and optimization.

Finally, in a series of experiments assessing the impact of musical training on sequence learning, we compared the performance of musicians and non-musicians on both the TMST and an auditory rhythm synchronization task. For auditory rhythm synchronization, the results showed that non-musicians could perform as well as musicians on the sequential component of the task, but that musicians outperformed non-musicians on the motor synchronization component of the task [56]. In addition, we showed that musicians who began training before age seven out-performed musicians who began training later for the motor, but not the sequential, component of the task [14,18]. Taken together, these results indicate that the spatial/sequential component of motor learning is less affected by the age of onset of training than the motor control component.

A final example of the dissociation between the sequential and motor components of learning comes from a study using a sequential reaching task [15]. To assess learning of the sequential order of reaches, the authors measured the number of anticipatory responses to the target location – reasoning that an anticipatory response indicated some explicit information about the location of the upcoming target. To assess the motor control component of learning they measured the accuracy of the reach trajectory, measuring smoothness and variability. Their results showed that the sequential component was acquired more quickly, and that the motor component continued to improve even after the sequence was explicitly known. Further, they showed that these measures were differentially affected by consolidation and interference.

Combined with our findings on the effects of delay [17], these results support the idea that the motor control component of sequence learning can show an almost infinite degree of optimization with practice, but that it requires continuous updating for maintenance. This explains why professional athletes and musicians practice every day, even though they know the explicit sequence of movements by heart.

# 6. Neuroimaging evidence for stages and different components of motor sequence learning

Over the last ten years, a large number of neuroimaging studies have examined how cortical and subcortical motor regions contribute to sequence learning. These results converge in showing the involvement of motor cortical, striatal and cerebellar networks, but do not provide consistent evidence for disociable contributions of these systems to specific phases of learning. The most consistent finding is decreasing cerebellar activity with learning [21,22,29,30,57–59], with some studies showing increasing activity in the cerebellar nuclei as early learning progresses [29,30,57,58]. In contrast, however, studies of tool-learning have demonstrated increases in cerebellar activity as expertise is acquired [60-62]. For the striatum, the majority of studies show increases in activity with extended practice [21,22,57,58], but the time-frame of increases varies considerably across studies (from hours to days) and some studies have also shown decreases with learning [29,59]. Finally, activity in motor cortex has also not been clearly linked to specific stages of learning, with some studies showing decreasing activity with practice [36,59] and others showing increasing activity [21-23,27,35].

In order to test the contributions of these different motor networks to sequence learning in a more systematic way, a series of

neuroimaging studies from our laboratory have examined learning of the TMST both within and across multiple days of practice, as well as at delayed recall. The goal of these experiments was to identify the brain networks engaged at different stages of learning, and to attempt to separate regions engaged by the sequential and motor control components of learning. The first experiment used positron emission tomography (PET) to study learning of the TMST on the first day of training, after five days of practice and at onemonth delayed recall (Fig. 4, top panel) [21]. On Day 1 of learning, greater activity was observed in bilateral cerebellar cortex for the trained sequence. When comparing Day 5 to Day 1, results showed decreased activity in the cerebellum, with increased activity in the putamen. Comparing Recall to Day 5 revealed greater activity in M1, premotor, and inferior parietal cortex. We interpreted these results as indicating that during early learning cerebellar mechanisms are involved in adjusting movement kinematics according to sensory input to produce accurate motor output. Further, we hypothesized that during late learning the BG might be involved in automatization, and that at delayed recall movement parameters appeared to be encoded in a distributed motor cortical representation.

To test the hypothesis that decreases in cerebellar activity were specific to early learning, and to assess whether these changes were related to changes in the sequencing or motor control component of the task, a second experiment examined TMST learning across three blocks of practice on a single day [22] (Fig. 4, middle panel). Similar to the previous across-day results, we found that activity in the cerebellum was greatest for the first block of practice and decreased with training. Unexpectedly, at the end of training on Day 1 we saw increases in activity in putamen and M1, similar to those observed after five days of training and delayed recall in the previous experiment. The finding that the same regions were active across very different time frames of learning suggested that different stages of learning were underwritten by similar brain mechanisms. Further, behavioral regression analyses showed that activity in the lateral cerebellar hemispheres and M1 was correlated with changes in performance for both the sequence and motor control components of the task. Most importantly, inter-regional correlation analyses showed that activity in M1 and cerebellum was correlated during learning, suggesting that interactions between these regions were directly related to learning (Fig. 4, bottom panel).

In order to test the hypothesis that similar motor networks are engaged across different stages of learning, we used fMRI to examine learning of the TMST across five days of practice [23] (Fig. 5). Consistent with our previous findings, activity on Day 1 was dominated by the cerebellum, bilateral caudate, and pre-motor regions. Across days of learning, as performance improved, activity in these regions decreased while activity in the hippocampus, frontal cortex, and putamen increased. Importantly, within the context of these global decreases, we found specific regions of left M1 and right cerebellar VIIIA/VIIB that were positively correlated with improvements in synchronization performance. In parallel, improvements in accuracy were correlated with increases in hippocampus, BA 9/10, and the putamen. Thus, changes in accuracy and synchronization were found to be related to two different sets of brain regions, suggesting that these networks optimize different components of learning. Specific increases in sensorimotor cerebellar cortex are a relatively novel finding for motor sequence learning, but are consistent with evidence for the development and refinement of internal models within the cerebellum [60-62]. In addition, we also found that activity in M1 on Day 1 was predictive of gains in performance between Days 1 and 2; consistent with previous findings [36,63]. Finally, we showed that correlated activity between M1 and the cerebellum was greater on Day 5 than Day 1, suggesting that M1 and the cerebellum form an integrated representation of the well-learned sequence.

Day 1 Day 5 Recall Between-day VIII VIII z=58 z=-42 Cerebellum Putamen **M**1 Block 1 Block 3 Within-day VII z = 48z=4Functional Correlation

**Fig. 4.** Results from two PET studies examining TMST learning across days of learning and at delayed recall (top panel) [21] and within a single day of learning (middle and bottom panels) [22]. The top and middle panels demonstrate the similarity between the cerebellar, BG and motor cortical regions found to be active across and within days of learning. The bottom panel shows the functional correlations observed between activity M1 and cerebellum, where greater activity in M1 was related to decreased activity in the cerebellar cortex.

The combined results of these three experiments clearly show that the cerebellum, striatum, and motor cortical regions are all engaged in motor sequence learning, but that their contributions are likely not confined to particular stages. Further, they show that cerebellar–M1 interactions are directly related to learning, and that both M1 and the cerebellum may encode long-term representations of learned sequences. In the next section we discuss specific cerebellar, striatal, and M1 mechanisms that are involved in learning. We will then present an integrated framework describing how these mechanisms might work together to underwrite learning of different sequence components across multiple stages of acquisition.

### 7. What does the cerebellum do? – forward models of the sensory consequences of action

The cerebellum receives sensory and motor information from both descending cortical pathways and ascending peripheral pathways [64–66]. In addition, recent evidence has shown strong connections to the parietal, premotor and frontal cortex [67–69]; pathways that are more prominent in humans than in other primates [70]. Based on the unique architecture of the purkinje cell – climbing fibre – parallel fibre circuit, the cerebellum has been hypothesized to participate in processes related to sensorimotor integration, error correction and the formation of internal models. The dominant current hypothesis about of the role of the cerebellum in motor control is that it instantiates internal models that facilitate optimal performance and learning (For reviews, see: Refs. [11,12,71–73]). An internal model can be defined as a set of input-output relations between motor commands and their sensory consequences. Input to the model is the efference copy of a motor command and output is the predicted sensory consequences of that action.

Internal models are hypothesized to be critical for motor learning because they allow for a comparison between the predicted and actual consequences of a movement, and thus for the assessment of movement error that is used to guide learning. Internal models in the cerebellum are thought to be instantiated in the purkinje cell



**Fig. 5.** Results of an fMRI study of across day learning of the TMST [23]. Panel A shows specific M1 and cerebellar regions where activity was correlated with percent correct performance. Panel B shows specific M1 and cerebellar regions where activity was correlated with response synchronization performance. Panel C shows the region of M1 where activity on Day 1 of learning predicted the degree of consolidation-related performance gain on Day 2. The regions of M1 and cerebellum that showed increasing functional connectivity between Day 1 and Day 5 are also shown here.

– parallel fibre complexes, where information about motor plans (efference copy) arrives from the cortical motor system. The climbing fibre system communicates error signals from the inferior olive that code discrepancies between planned and executed movement, and is hypothesized to "teach" or modify the existing internal model during learning. Evidence that cerebellar circuitry has the capacity to instantiate internal models comes from neurophysiological studies and computational modeling of cerebellar circuits (For review, see: Refs. [71,74]). Intriguingly, recent evidence from fMRI studies of human rule-learning suggest that cerebellar–frontal circuits may be involved in automatizing or developing internal models of cognitive behaviors, similar to the way cerebellar–motor circuits are involved in motor learning [75].

Evidence that cerebellar circuits are relevant for skill learning comes from a range of experiments in animals and humans. A study using genetically modified mice with deficiencies in cerebellar function showed that they could learn to swim to a target, but could not optimize their movement trajectories [76]. Experiments in rats learning a skilled reaching task showed expansion of the paw representation in cerebellar cortex [77-79]. Work in patients with cerebellar lesions shows that they can adapt their movements on-line to respond to a perturbation, but they cannot learn from previous errors [80,81]. Most persuasively, two recent brain stimulation experiments have demonstrated the role of the cerebellum in state estimation – a function closely related to internal models. In the first study, Miall et al. [82] showed that TMS over the cerebellar cortex impaired the accuracy of reaching movements that depended on state estimation for accuracy. In the second study, Galea et al. [83] showed that tDCS over the lateral cerebellum enhanced learning of a visuomotor rotation task by promoting a more rapid decrease in error. Finally, in a recent fMRI study Grafton [84] decomposed learning on a sequential reaching task into different components, including a specific measure of error correction. Decreases in error correction across trials were

related to decreases in activity in cerebellar cortex. This is consistent with the global decreases in cerebellar activity observed with learning in a large number of neuroimaging studies, including our own [22,23,30,36,57,84]. Taken together, these results strongly support the hypothesis that cerebellar mechanisms are important for modeling the sensory consequences of action and for using this information to compute error signals relevant for learning.

Another important hypothesized role of the cerebellum in motor learning is the storage of internal models of learned skills, such as manipulating a new tool or learning a visuospatial transformation. In an elegant series of studies, Immamizu et al. [60-62] showed specific changes in cerebellar cortex as participants learned to use a new tool. As described above, fMRI results from our lab also showed specific increases in lobule VIII after long-term training on the TMST [23]. The activation of lateral cerebellar regions that connect to the frontal lobe during performance of a well learned sequence may also be related to their contribution to the learning and representation of internal models of sequence rules [75,85]. Despite these findings indicating a role for the cerebellum in long-term representation of a motor skill, it does not appear to be required for motor memory, or storage of the motor program itself. First, cerebellar lesions do not result in the loss of specific skills, but rather cause incoordination, dysmetria and slowing (For review, see: Ref. [81]). Second, the TMS study described above [82] shows that disruption of the lateral cerebellum during reaching does not halt movement, but rather appears to disrupt the estimate of the location of the arm in space. Finally, Grafton et al. [84] showed that a measure of feedforward control, that was taken to represent the acquired internal model for the movement, was related to activity in motor cortex but not the cerebellum. Overall, current data do not support the hypothesis that the cerebellum is the site of storage of an internal model of learned skill. However, as will be discussed further below, it may be the case that the cerebellum is part of an extended network where motor cortical regions serve to store the

representation of a learned skill while associated cerebellar-cortical regions store information about the optimal motor control parameters for performance of that skill within a particular context.

The idea that the cerebellum might contribute to the long-term representation of motor skill is supported by evidence of structural changes in the cerebellum related to learning. In the rat, skill learning is associated with changes in the microstructure of cerebellar cortex [79,86]. In humans, trained musicians show greater grey matter density in cerebellar cortex than non-musicians [87]. Recent work from our lab has also shown that grey matter concentration in the cerebellum is related to the slope of learning on the TMST in regions similar to those observed in the fMRI study with the same subjects [88]. Consistent with this, Della-Maggiore et al. [89] found that white matter integrity in the cerebellum was related to learning of a visuomotor adaptation task.

### 8. What does the striatum do? – probabilistic learning and movement chunking

The BG are a set of subcortical nuclei with prominent connections to the motor system that send and receive information from cortical and subcortical regions. The most critical structures for motor sequence learning are in the striatum, which is comprised of the caudate nucleus, putamen, and the globus pallidus - the main output nucleus of the BG. Pathways connecting different cortical regions to the striatum are spatially segregated and hypothesized to operate as closed-loop circuits [90-93]. The striatum itself can be roughly divided into three sub-regions: the anterior-medial striatum - composed of the most anterior portions of the caudate and putamen; the dorsolateral striatum - composed of the more posterior and lateral caudate and putamen; and the ventral striatum - composed of the nucleus accumbens and the most ventral portions of the caudate and putamen [90,94]. The anterior-medial striatum is more strongly connected with frontal and pre-motor cortices. This "associative" circuit has been proposed to be involved in response selection and evaluation of outcome or reward. The dorsolateral striatum is more strongly connected to the sensorimotor and parietal cortices. It has been defined as the "sensorimotor" circuit, and has been proposed to be important for encoding motor associations, chunks or "habits" [90]. Interestingly, recent neuroanatomical studies in primates have shown that there are multi-synaptic pathways linking the cerebellum and BG [95,96]. The presence of these connections suggests that the independent contributions of the cerebellum and striatum to motor learning may be partially integrated.

Stage models of motor sequence learning propose that the associative and sensorimotor circuits of the striatum contribute differentially to the early and late phases of learning. The associative circuit has been hypothesized to be more important for early learning when executive control demands are greatest, and the sensorimotor circuit is more relevant for later learning when executive demands have decreased and motor control dominates [3,4,58,90]. There is evidence to indicate that the striatum is involved in motor memory consolidation [31,47,97], and some have proposed that it is involved in the storage of learned sequences [3,4,30,42]. However, the contribution of the striatum to long-term retention is controversial. Striatal lesions do not typically result in the inability to perform well-learned sequences, but rather impair new learning [98], or produce decrements in movement adaptation [80] or speed of response [99,100]. Importantly, a recent study in macaque monkeys [101] showed that inactivation of the output nucleus of the BG produced no deficits in retention of an over-learned sequence, although it did produce slowing and decreased movement amplitudes.

The BG have frequently been proposed to play a specific role in implicit sequence learning [36,42,102–105]. However, some studies show that there is considerable overlap in striatal contributions to both implicit and explicit learning [105–107]. Further, the results of studies of implicit learning in patients with Parkinson's disease are inconsistent, with some studies showing deficits [98] while others do not [99,108].

The possible contribution of the ventral striatum in motor sequence learning is largely unexplored. There is substantial evidence to support its involvement in probabilistic reward-based learning [109]. Some have suggested that this is a more general role of the striatum, and that its contribution to motor learning might be in learning probabilistic or predictive associations between a series of responses at least in part through reward-based mechanisms [11,90,94]. However, real experimental evidence linking reward-based mechanisms to motor learning is lacking.

A related proposal for the role of the BG in motor sequence learning is that it associates multiple movements into groups or chunks [90,110,111]. Chunks are subgroups of movements within a sequence that are usually defined by shorter RTs among members of the subgroup compared to RTs between subgroups [112]. Chunking is thought to index the development of efficient, co-articulated movements within a sequence [90,111,113,114]. It is characteristic of over-learned sequences, and is thought to be important for learning and maintaining longer and more complex sequences because it confers a memory advantage [112,115]. Depletion of dopamine in the BG of rats and monkeys results in impairments in the development and stability of movement chunks, but does not impair the expression of chunks in well-learned sequences [111,116,117]. Similarly, patients with Parkinson's disease [118] and basal ganglia stroke [119] are impaired in chunk acquisition. Consistent with this evidence, a recent fMRI study showed that activity in dorsal-lateral striatum was related to chunking in a finger sequencing task [20]. Finally, multiunit recording work in rats has shown that as T-maze learning progresses the response of striatal output neurons becomes tuned to the beginning and end of the sequence of movements - indicating that corticostriatal circuits represent the sequence as one or more chunks rather than as a series of individual movements [120].

Integrating our own work with these proposed striatal mechanisms, early learning was associated with greater activity in the anterior striatum, with a shift to more dorsal striatum later in learning [23]. This is consistent with relatively rapid changes in the accuracy or stimulus response association measure and more extended changes in the sensorimotor measure of synchronization. Overall, our data do not support a role for the striatum in retention, as we see increases in striatal activity both within and across days of learning, but no incremental engagement at delayed recall [21–23]. Taken together we propose that the striatum is important for developing probabilistic associations between individual movements (e.g., motor chunks) and that these associations evolve with practice. Further, we hypothesize that the involvement of different striatial regions in sequential learning may depend on the degree to which reward-based, explicit control and sensorimotor mechanisms are required.

### 9. What does M1 do? - representation and storage

Primary motor cortex, or M1, is the major cortical output to the descending motor system and generates the neural commands that result in voluntary movement. M1 is strongly interconnected with somatosensory, and spatial processing regions in the parietal lobe, the premotor cortex and SMA, as well as both the BG and cerebellum. M1 is organized as a motor map with a globally

### Author's personal copy

#### V.B. Penhune, C.J. Steele / Behavioural Brain Research 226 (2012) 579-591

somatotopic organization containing multiple interdigitated representations of muscle synergies or movement primitives [121,122]. These synergies can be represented by the coherent activity of weighted ensembles of connected neurons, and the encoding of a novel movement sequence in motor cortex is thought to result from changes in this weighted connectivity when sets of movements are consistently performed together [123]. The overall representational strength of the sequence is increased as movements are practiced, resulting in an expansion of the cortical representation, or "map" region, corresponding to the specific sequence of movements or skill [77,124-126]. TMS studies in humans show map expansion for practiced movements [127,128]. Map plasticity appears to occur over multiple timescales, with short-term changes that are relatively transient and long-term changes that are more permanent [129]. Supporting this idea, a recent neurophysiological study of force-field adaptation in monkeys found that different populations of neurons in M1 show fast and slow changes in coding as the animals practiced the task over five days [130]. In contrast to the population changes, they did not observe change in properties of single cells. Therefore, they interpreted their findings as showing that a new motor plan is encoded by a population of neurons, rather than changes in the properties of individual cells. Studies of motor sequence learning in animals show that neurons in M1 can encode also sequence-specific information [50,131,132], consistent with human neuroimaging studies showing long-term increases in M1 activity with extended practice [21-23,27,30,35]. Finally, recent theory suggests that motor representations are constitutively plastic, a characteristic could account for the flexibility of motor behavior and the ability to learn a large repertoire of skills [129].

The evidence reviewed above constitutes a strong body of evidence demonstrating that M1 is the likely site of storage of new motor memories, probably as part of a distributed network including premotor and parietal cortex. The specificity of M1 involvement in motor memory has been demonstrated in studies where repetitive TMS over M1 disrupts consolidation of a practiced motor task [133,134]. Complementary work with facilitative transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) has shown that stimulation of M1 immediately following practice enhances consolidation and longterm retention [83,135,136]. Importantly, recent studies using tDCS have also shown facilitative effects of PMC stimulation on consolidation [137,138], confirming its role in the distributed network underlying motor sequence representation.

The hypothesis that motor memories are represented in M1 is also supported by evidence of structural changes in motor cortex related to learning. In addition to plasticity in the organization of motor maps, studies in rats show microstructural changes in grey and white matter [125,139]. In humans, structural MRI studies showing changes in grey matter and white matter with learning of a new motor task, or in relation to well-learned skill. Using diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), Bengtsson et al. [140] found that musicians had greater integrity of the descending motor pathways that was related to the number of hours they practiced in childhood. In a longitudinal study of children taking one year of piano lessons, Hyde et al. [141] showed changes in grey matter structure in M1 that was related to motor performance. Finally, a DTI study showed that ten days of intensive training on a motor adaptation paradigm produced grey matter and white matter changes in the hand region of the motor cortex [142].

### 10. How do the cerebellum, BG and M1 work together?

Having reviewed the individual contributions of the cerebellum, striatum and M1 to motor sequence learning, the challenge is to understand how these regions work together as learning



**Fig. 6.** Integrated model of motor sequence learning. The top panel of the figure illustrates the brain regions and associated mechanisms involved in motor sequence learning, and highlights their connectivity. Interactions between regions/mechanisms are depicted by vertical arrows, with lesser known interactions depicted by light arrows. The colour gradient within the stratum represents the relative contribution of each learning mechanism (light = greater contribution; dark = lesser contribution). The bottom panel depicts the idealized learning curve for different components of performance over time. Each component is colour-coded to its associated brain region. (For interpretation of the article.)

progresses. We propose that sequence learning is underwritten by parallel, interacting processes, such as error correction, internal model formation, stimulus-response association and sequence representation, that are instantiated in specific cerebellar, striatal or M1 mechanisms (Fig. 6). Therefore, the ensemble of regions that are engaged at a particular phase of learning depends on task demands that tap these specific mechanisms. This is in contrast to stage models that try to link learning at each phase to processing in unique regions. Our framework also contrasts with the component model, in that separable parameters for learning are not confined to spatial and sensorimotor, but include other parameters, such as velocity, force, timing and coarticulation – each of which may be optimized over different timecourses.

In the proposed model, the function of the striatal system is to learn probabilistic or predictive associations between stimuli and responses and/or between individual movements in a sequence. The role of the cerebellum is to acquire the optimal internal model for performing a sequence of movements in a particular context. The cerebellum also contributes to error correction and control of on-going movement. Finally, M1 stores the representation or "map" of a learned sequence, likely as part of a distributed network including parietal lobe and PMC.

As described previously, connections between these regions form separable loop systems – the cortico-striatal and corticocerebellar. Throughout learning these systems contribute simultaneously to sequence acquisition: the cortico-striatal system to learning of the more explicit, spatial/sequential order of movements; and the cortico-cerebellar system to correcting and optimizing motor control parameters. The degree to which each system is called into play depends on task demands and phase of learning. These different mechanisms also underlie faster and slower learning processes, where the more explicit, spatial/sequential component is learned more quickly, and the more implicit, sensorimotor component is learned more slowly. If the sequence is learnable through explicit means or has an obvious goal state, then anterior striatal circuits and the frontal lobe would play a greater role. If, however, the sequence is largely implicit or has already been explicitly learned, then dorsal–striatal mechanisms would contribute to chunking of repeatedly performed actions. It is also possible that ventral–striatal, reward-based mechanisms are engaged in learning. Information from these striatal learning mechanisms would be integrated in M1, contributing to the reweighting of the representation of repeated or learned sequences.

Cerebellar learning mechanisms would contribute to error correction throughout the learning process and with practice new context-specific input-output models for the sequence would be formed. Interactions between the cerebellum and M1 appear to be crucial for learning, likely influencing the final representation of the sequence in M1. This joint representation is built up through an iterative process of integrating information about performance of the skill based on the predicted and actual state of the effector(s) involved. Thus, while average M1 and cerebellar activity may decrease with practice, specific increases that index encoding of the representation of the motor plan and internal model can be observed. The representations in M1 and the cerebellum may be linked to different components of learning, with the representation of the motor plan for the learned sequence of movements encoded in M1 and the motor control parameters for these movements encoded in the cerebellum. This distributed representation of a learned sequence would also likely include the PMC and parietal cortex. The cerebellum is also likely to be important for encoding the motor context of learning such as the control parameters of specific tools or manipulanda. The last leg of the triangle, the interaction between the cerebellum and striatal system, is the least well characterized. However, it follows logically that information from striatal systems about prediction and chunking of action sequences would be relayed to cerebellar systems engaged in movement optimization and vice versa.

In sum, this framework for motor learning proposes that, as with the athlete learning the jump-shot or a pianist learning a new piece, there are at least two separable components of learning – spatial/sequential order and optimal sensorimotor control – and that these components are underwritten by partially separable neural mechanisms that are optimized over different timecourses (Fig. 6, bottom panel). However, as with the athlete and the musician, learning of these components is necessarily intertwined. Making easily testable predictions from a model proposing parallel interacting systems can be more difficult. However, there are a number of directions for future research that would further specify striatal, cerebellar, and M1 mechanisms involved in learning and could better define how these systems interact.

A central direction arising from our proposal would be to identify more precisely the sensorimotor parameters thought to be represented by cerebellar internal models. This would require experiments examining cerebellar contributions to learningrelated changes in movement parameters such as velocity, force, timing and coarticulation. Some such experiments have been conducted in animals, but relatively few have been done with humans. A clear prediction of our model is that activity in specific M1 sub-populations should be related to recall performance of individual sequences, with better recall resulting in greater activity. A related prediction, based on the idea that M1-cerebellar connectivity is important for learning, is that we should be able to identify specific changes in connectivity with learning. The hypothesis that dorsal-striatal mechanisms contribute to chunk formation could be tested in humans by examining the relationship between striatal activity and chunking measures during learning. An interesting question based on the recently identified anatomical connections between the BG and cerebellum would be to test for striatal–cerebellar interactions specific to learning, possibly in the context of chunk formation. Finally, a novel direction for research would be to examine the role of ventral striatal reward-based mechanisms in sequence learning.

### Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the contributions of the students, research assistants and technicians who have assisted in the research. We also thank our participants. Funding for this work comes from the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada (PGS D3-331922 – CJS and 238670 – VBP), the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (201003 – VBP) and the Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (12014 – VBP).

### References

- Ashe J, Lungu OV, Basford AT, Lu X. Cortical control of motor sequences. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2006;16:213–21.
- [2] Doya K. Complementary roles of basal ganglia and cerebellum in learning and motor control. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2000;10:732–9.
- [3] Doyon J, Bellec P, Amsel R, Penhune V, Monchi O, Carrier J, et al. Contributions of the basal ganglia and functionally related brain structures to motor learning. Behav Brain Res 2009;199:61–75.
- [4] Doyon J, Benali H. Reorganization and plasticity in the adult human brain during learning of motor skills. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2005;15:161–7.
- [5] Hikosaka O, Nakahara H, Rand M, Sakai K, Lu X, Nakamura K, et al. Parallel neural networks for learning sequential procedures. Trends Neurosci 1999;22:464–71.
- [6] Hikosaka O, Nakamura H, Sakai K, Nakahara H. Central mechanisms of motor skill learning. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2002;12:217–22.
- [7] Willingham D. A neuropsychological theory of motor skill learning. Psychol Rev 1998;105:558–84.
- [8] Brashers Krug T, Shadmehr R, Bizzi E. Consolidation in human motor memory. Nature 1996;382:252–5.
- [9] Karni A, Sagi D. The time course of learning a visual skill. Nature 1993;365:250-2.
- [10] Shadmehr R, Brashers Krug T. Functional stages in the formation of human long-term motor memory. J Neurosci 1997;17:409–19.
- [11] Shadmehr R, Krakauer J. A computational neuroanatomy for motor control. Exp Brain Res 2008;185:359–81.
- [12] Miall C. Motor control: correcting errors and learning from mistakes. Curr Biol 2010;20:R596-8.
- [13] Wolpert DM, Kawato M. Multiple paired forward and inverse models for motor control. Neural Netw 1998;11:1317–29.
- [14] Bailey J, Penhune V. Rhythm synchronization performance and auditory working memory in early- and late-trained musicians. Exp Brain Res 2010;204:91–101.
- [15] Ghilardi M, Moisello C, Silvestri G, Ghez C, Krakauer J. Learning of a sequential motor skill comprises explicit and implicit components that consolidate differently. J Neurophysiol 2009;101:2218–29.
- [16] Savion-Lemieux T, Bailey J, Penhune V. Developmental contributions to motor sequence learning. Exp Brain Res 2009;195:293–305.
- [17] Savion-Lemieux T, Penhune V. The effects of practice and delay on motor skill learning and retention. Exp Brain Res 2005;161:423–31.
- [18] Watanabe D, Savion-Lemieux T, Penhune V. The effect of early musical training on adult motor performance: evidence for a sensitive period in motor learning. Exp Brain Res 2007;176:332–40.
- [19] Grafton ST. Malleable templates: reshaping our crystallized skills to create new outcomes. Nat Neurosci 2008;11:248–9.
- [20] Orban P, Peigneux P, Lungu O, Debas K, Barakat M, Bellec P, et al. Functional neuroanatomy associated with the expression of distinct movement kinematics in motor sequence learning. Neuroscience 2011;179:94–103.
- [21] Penhune V, Doyon J. Dynamic cortical and subcortical networks in learning and delayed recall of timed motor sequences. J Neurosci 2002;22:1397–406.
- [22] Penhune V, Doyon J. Cerebellum and M1 interaction during early learning of timed motor sequences. Neuroimage 2005;26:801–12.
- [23] Steele CJ, Penhune VB. Specific increases within global decreases: a functional magnetic resonance imaging investigation of five days of motor sequence learning. J Neurosci 2010;30:8332–41.
- [24] Nissen M, Bullemer P. Attentional requirements of learning: evidence from performance measures. Cogn Psychol 1987;19:1–32.
- [25] Hikosaka O, Rand MK, Miyachi S, Miyashita K. Learning of sequential movements in the monkey: process of learning and retention of memory. J Neurophysiol 1995;74:1652–61.
- [26] Sakai K, Hikosaka O, Miyauchi S, Takino R, Sasaki Y, Pütz B. Transition of brain activation from frontal to parietal areas in visuomotor sequence learning. J Neurosci 1998;18:1827–40.

Author's personal copy

- [27] Karni A, Meyer G, Jezzard P, Adams M, Turner R, Ungerleider L. Functional MRI evidence for adult motor cortex plasticity during motor skill learning. Nature 1995;377:155–8.
- [28] Seidler RD, Noll DC, Thiers G. Feedforward and feedback processes in motor control. Neuroimage 2004;22:1775–83.
- [29] Floyer-Lea A, Matthews P. Changing brain networks for visuomotor control with increased movement automaticity. J Neurophysiol 2004;92:2405–12.
- [30] Floyer-Lea A, Matthews P. Distinguishable brain activation networks for short- and long-term motor skill learning. J Neurophysiol 2005;94:512–8.
- [31] Albouy G, Sterpenich V, Balteau E, Vandewalle G, Desseilles M, Dang-Vu T, et al. Both the hippocampus and striatum are involved in consolidation of motor sequence memory. Neuron 2008;58:261–72.
- [32] Albouy G, Ruby P, Phillips C, Luxen A, Peigneux P, Maquet P. Implicit oculomotor sequence learning in humans: time course of offline processing. Brain Res 2006;1090:163-71.
- [33] Seidler RD, Purushotham A, Kim S-G, Ugurbil K, Willingham D, Ashe J. Cerebellum activation associated with performance change but not motor learning. Science 2002;296:2043–6.
- [34] Orban P, Peigneux P, Lungu O, Albouy G, Breton E, Laberenne F, et al. The multifaceted nature of the relationship between performance and brain activity in motor sequence learning. Neuroimage 2010;49:694–702.
- [35] Karni A, Meyer G, Rey-Hipolito C, Jezzard P, Adams M, Tuner R, et al. The acquisition of skilled motor performance: fast and slow experience-driven changes in primary motor cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:861–8.
- [36] Seidler R, Purushotham A, Kim S-G, Ugurbil K, Willingham D, Ashe J. Neural correlates of encoding and expression in implicit sequence learning. Exp Brain Res 2005;165:114–24.
- [37] Overduin SA, Richardson AG, Bizzi E, Press DZ. Simultaneous sensorimotor adaptation and sequence learning. Exp Brain Res 2008;184:451–6.
- [38] Shadmehr R, Brandt J, Corkin S. Time-dependent motor memory processes in amnesic subjects. J Neurophysiol 1998;80:1590–7.
- [39] Corkin S. Acquisition of motor skill after bilateral medial temporal-lobe excision. Neuropsychologia 1968;6:255–65.
- [40] Howard Jr JH, Howard DV. Age differences in implicit learning of higher order dependencies in serial patterns. Psychol Aging 1997;12:634–56.
  [41] Grafton ST, Waters C, Sutton J, Lew MF, Couldwell W. Pallidotomy increases
- [41] Grafton ST, Waters C, Sutton J, Lew MF, Couldwell W. Pallidotomy increases activity of motor association cortex in Parkinson's disease: a positron emission tomographic study. Ann Neurol 1995;37:776–83.
- [42] Poldrack R, Desmond J, Glover G, Gabrieli J. The neural basis of visual skill learning: an fMRI study of mirror reading. Cereb Cortex 1998;8:1–10.
- [43] Rauch S, Whalen P, Savage C, Curran T, Kendrick A, Brown H, et al. Striatal recruitment during an implicit sequence learning task as measured by functional magnetic resonance imaging. Hum Brain Mapp 1997;5:124–32.
- [44] Doyon J, Korman M, Morin A, Dostie V, Hadj Tahar A, Benali H, et al. Contribution of night and day sleep vs. simple passage of time to the consolidation of motor sequence and visuomotor adaptation learning. Exp Brain Res 2009;195:15–26.
- [45] Korman M, Doyon J, Doljansky J, Carrier J, Dagan Y, Karni A. Daytime sleep condenses the time course of motor memory consolidation. Nat Neurosci 2007;10:1206–13.
- [46] Morin A, Doyon J, Dostie V, Barakat M, Hadj Tahar A, Korman M, et al. Motor sequence learning increases sleep spindles and fast frequencies in post-training sleep. Sleep 2008;31:1149–56.
- [47] Peigneux P, Laureys S, Fuchs S, Destrebecqz A, Collette F, Delbeuck X, et al. Learned material content and acquisition level modulate cerebral reactivation during posttraining rapid-eye-movements sleep. Neuroimage 2003;20:125–34.
- [48] Walker MP, Stickgold R. Sleep, memory, and plasticity. Annu Rev Psychol 2006;57:139–66.
- [49] Lu X, Ashe J. Anticipatory activity in primary motor cortex codes memorized movement sequences. Neuron 2005;45:967–73.
  [50] Matsuzaka Y, Picard N, Strick PL. Skill representation in the primary motor
- [50] Matsuzaka Y, Picard N, Strick PL. Skill representation in the primary motor cortex after long-term practice. J Neurophysiol 2007;97:1819–32.
- [51] Doyon J, Penhune V, Ungerleider LG. Distinct contribution of the cortico-striatal and cortico-cerebellar systems to motor skill learning. Neuropsychologia 2003;41:252–62.
- [52] Savion-Lemieux T, Penhune V. The effect of practice pattern on the acquisition, consolidation and transer of visuo-motor sequences. Exp Brain Res 2010;204:271–81.
- [53] Chen J, Penhune V, Zatorre R. Listening to musical rhythms recruits motor regions of the brain. Cereb Cortex 2008;18:2844–54.
- [54] Bo J, Peltier S, Noll D, Seidler R. Symbolic representations in motor sequence learning. Neuroimage 2011;54:417–26.
- [55] Hwang EJ, Smith MA, Shadmehr R. Dissociable effects of the implicit and explicit memory systems on learning control of reaching. Exp Brain Res 2006;173:425–37.
- [56] Chen J, Penhune V, Zatorre R. Moving on time: the brain network for auditorymotor synchronization. J Cogn Neurosci 2008;20:226–39.
- [57] Doyon J, Song A, Karni A, Lalonde F, Adams M, Ungerleider L. Experiencedependent changes in cerebellar contributions to motor sequence learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:1017–22.
- [58] Lehéricy S, Benali H, Van de Moortele P, Pélégrini-Issac M, Waechter T, Ugurbil K, et al. Distinct basal ganglia territories are engaged in early and advanced motor sequence learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102:12566–71.
- [59] Wu T, Kansaku K, Hallett M. How self-initiated memorized movements become automatic: a functional MRI study. J Neurophysiol 2004;91:1690–8.

- [60] Imamizu H, Kuroda T, Miyauchi S, Yoshioka Y, Kawato K. Modular organization of internal models of tools in the human cerebellum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:5461–6.
  [61] Imamizu H, Kuroda T, Yoshioka T, Kawato M. Functional magnetic resonance
- [61] Imamizu H, Kuroda T, Yoshioka T, Kawato M. Functional magnetic resonance imaging examination of two modular architectures for switching multiple internal models. J Neurosci 2004;24:1173–81.
- [62] Imamizu H, Miyauchi S, Tamada T, Sasaki Y, Takino R, Pütz B, et al. Human cerebellar activity reflecting an acquired internal model of a new tool. Nature 2000;403:192–5.
- [63] Wymbs N, Grafton S. Neural substrates of practice structure that support future off-line learning. J Neurophysiol 2009;102:2462–76.
   [64] Middleton FA, Strick PL. Cerebellar output channels. In: Schmahmann J, editor.
- The cerebellum and cognition. Academic Press: San Diego; 1997. p. 61–83.
   Schmahmann J. The cerebrocerebellar system. In: Schmahmann J, editor. The
- cerebellum and cognition. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 1997, p. 31–55.
- [66] Larsell O, Jansen O. The comparative anatomy and histology of the cerebellum: the human cerebellum, cerebellar connections and the cerebellar cortex. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press; 1972.
- [67] Kelly R, Strick P. Cerebellar loops with motor cortex and prefrontal cortex of a non-human primate. J Neurosci 2003;23:8432–44.
- [68] Clower DM, Dum RP, Strick PL. Basal ganglia and cerebellar inputs to 'AIP'. Cereb Cortex 2005;15:913–20.
   [69] Diedrichsen J, Balsters JH, Flavell J, Cussans E, Ramnani N. A probabilistic MR
- atlas of the human cerebellum. Neuroimage 2009;46:39-46.
- [70] Balsters JH, Cussans E, Diedrichsen J, Phillips KA, Preuss TM, Rilling JK, et al. Evolution of the cerebellar cortex: the selective expansion of prefrontalprojecting cerebellar lobules. Neuroimage 2010;49:2045–52.
- [71] Ito M. Bases and implications of learning in the cerebellum—adaptive control and internal model mechanism. Prog Brain Res 2005;148:95–109.
- [72] Wolpert DM, Miall RC, Kawato M. Internal models in the cerebellum. Trends Cogn Sci 1998;2:338–47.
- [73] Ramnani N. The primate cortico-cerebellar system: anatomy and function. Nat Rev Neurosci 2006;7:511–22.
- [74] Kawato M. Internal models for motor control and trajectory planning. Curr Opin Neurobiol 1999;9:718–27.
- [75] Balsters JH, Ramnani N. Cerebellar plasticity and the automation of first-order rules. J Neurosci 2011;31:2305–12.
- [76] Burguiere E, Arabo A, Jarlier F, De Zeeuw CI, Rondi-Reig L. Role of the cerebellar cortex in conditioned goal-directed behavior. J Neurosci 2010;30:13265–71.
- [77] Kleim J, Hogg T, VandenBerg P, Cooper N, Bruneau R, Remple M. Cortical synaptogenesis and motor map reorganization occur during late, but not early, phase of motor skill learning. J Neurosci 2004;24:628–33.
- early, phase of motor skill learning. J Neurosci 2004;24:628–33.
  [78] Kleim JA, Swain RA, Armstrong KA, Napper RM, Jones TA, Greenough WT. Selective synaptic plasticity within the cerebellar cortex following complex motor skill learning. Neurobiol Learn Mem 1998;69:274–89.
- [79] Kleim JA, Vij K, Ballard DH, Greenough WT. Learning-dependent synaptic modifications in the cerebellar cortex of the adult rat persist for at least four weeks. J Neurosci 1997;17:717–21.
- [80] Smith MA, Shadmehr R. Intact ability to learn internal models of arm dynamics in Huntington's disease but not cerebellar degeneration. J Neurophysiol 2005;93:2809–21.
- [81] Bastian A. Learning to predict the future: the cerebelum adapts feedforward movement control. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2006;16:645–9.
- [82] Miall RC, Christensen L, Cain O, Stanley J. Disruption of state estimation in the human lateral cerebellum. PLoS Biol 2007;5:e316.
- [83] Galea JM, Vazquez A, Pasricha N, Orban de Xivry JJ, Celnik P. Dissociating the roles of the cerebellum and motor cortex during adaptive learning: the motor cortex retains what the cerebellum learns. Cereb Cortex 2010.
- [84] Grafton ST, Schmitt P, Van Horn J, Diedrichsen J. Neural substrates of visuomotor learning based on improved feedback control and prediction. Neuroimage 2008;39:1383–95.
   [85] O'Reilly J, Beckmann C, Tomassini V, Ramnani N, Johansen-Berg H. Distinct
- [85] O'Reilly J, Beckmann C, Tomassini V, Ramnani N, Johansen-Berg H. Distinct and overlapping functional zones in the cerebellum defined by resting state functional connectivity. Cereb Cortex 2010;20:953–65.
- [86] Kleim JA, Markham JÅ, Vij K, Freese JL, Ballard DH, Greenough WT. Motor learning induces astrocytic hypertrophy in the cerebellar cortex. Behav Brain Res 2007;178:244–9.
- [87] Gaser C, Schlaug G. Gray matter differences between musicians and nonmusicians. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2003;999:514-7.
- [88] Steele, C, Scholz J, Douaud G, Johansen-Berg H, and Penhune V. Structural correlates of skilled performance on a motor sequence learning task. Neuroimage, submitted for publication.
- [89] Della-Maggiore V, Scholz J, Johansen-Berg H, Paus T. The rate of visuomotor adaptation correlates with cerebellar white-matter microstructure. Hum Brain Mapp 2009;30:4048–53.
- [90] Graybiel AM. Habits, rituals, and the evaluative brain. Annu Rev Neurosci 2008;31:359–87.
- [91] Green CR. Basal ganglia. In: Paxinos G, editor. The rat nervous system. San Diego, CA: Elsevier Academic Press; 2004. p. 455–507.
- [92] Alexander GE, DeLong MR, Strick PL. Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci 1986;9:357–81.
- [93] Middleton F, Strick P. Basal ganglia and cerebellar loops: motor and cognitive circuits. Brain Res Rev 2000;31:236–50.
- [94] Grahn JA, Parkinson JA, Owen AM. The cognitive functions of the caudate nucleus. Prog Neurobiol 2008;86:141–55.

- [95] Hoshi E, Tremblay L, Feger J, Carras PL, Strick PL. The cerebellum communicates with the basal ganglia. Nat Neurosci 2005;8:1491–3.
- [96] Bostan AC, Dum RP, Strick PL. The basal ganglia communicate with the cerebellum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107:8452-6.
- [97] Debas K, Carrier J, Orban P, Barakat M, Lungu O, Vandewalle G, et al. Brain plasticity related to the consolidation of motor sequence learning and motor adaptation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107:17839–44.
- [98] Siegert RJ, Taylor KD, Weatherall M, Abernethy DA. Is implicit sequence learning impaired in Parkinson's disease? A meta-analysis. Neuropsychology 2006;20:490–5.
- [99] Seidler RD, Tuite P, Ashe J. Selective impairments in implicit learning in Parkinson's disease. Brain Res 2007;1137:104–10.
- [100] Desmurget M, Turner RS. Testing basal ganglia motor functions through reversible inactivations in the posterior internal globus pallidus. J Neurophysiol 2008;99:1057–76.
- [101] Desmurget M, Turner RS. Motor sequences and the basal ganglia: kinematics, not habits. J Neurosci 2010;30:7685–90.
- [102] Bennett IJ, Madden DJ, Vaidya CJ, Howard Jr JH, Howard DV. White matter integrity correlates of implicit sequence learning in healthy aging. Neurobiol Aging 2011;32, 2317 e1–2317 e12.
- [103] Hazeltine E, Grafton ST, Ivry R. Attention and stimulus characteristics determine the locus of motor-sequence encoding. A PET study. Brain 1997;120(Pt 1):123–40.
- [104] Karabanov A, Cervenka S, de Manzano O, Forssberg H, Farde L, Ullen F. Dopamine D2 receptor density in the limbic striatum is related to implicit but not explicit movement sequence learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107:7574–9.
- [105] Destrebecqz A, Peigneux P, Laureys S, Degueldre C, Del Fiore G, Aerts J, et al. The neural correlates of implicit and explicit sequence learning: interacting networks revealed by the process dissociation procedure. Learn Mem 2005;12:480–90.
- [106] Willingham DB, Salidis J, Gabrieli JD. Direct comparison of neural systems mediating conscious and unconscious skill learning. J Neurophysiol 2002;88:1451–60.
- [107] Song S, Marks B, Howard Jr JH, Howard DV. Evidence for parallel explicit and implicit sequence learning systems in older adults. Behav Brain Res 2009;196:328–32.
- [108] Shin JC, Aparicio P, Ivry RB. Multidimensional sequence learning in patients with focal basal ganglia lesions. Brain Cogn 2005;58:75–83.
- [109] Ito M, Doya K. Multiple representations and algorithms for reinforcement learning in the cortico-basal ganglia circuit. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2011;21:368–73.
- [110] Graybiel AM. The basal ganglia and chunking of action repertoires. Neurobiol Learn Mem 1998;70:119–36.
- [111] Levesque M, Bedard MA, Courtemanche R, Tremblay PL, Scherzer P, Blanchet PJ. Raclopride-induced motor consolidation impairment in primates: role of the dopamine type-2 receptor in movement chunking into integrated sequences. Exp Brain Res 2007;182:499–508.
- [112] Sakai K, Kitaguchi K, Hikosaka O. Chunking during human visuomotor sequence learning. Exp Brain Res 2003;152:229–42.
- [113] Verwey WB, Eikelboom T. Evidence for lasting sequence segmentation in the discrete sequence-production task. J Mot Behav 2003;35:171–81.
- [114] Jog MS, Kubota Y, Connolly CI, Hillegaart V, Graybiel AM. Building neural representations of habits. Science 1999;286:1745–9.
   [115] Rosenbaum DA, Kenny SB, Derr MA. Hierarchical control of rapid movement
- [115] Rosenbaum DA, Kenny SB, Derr MA. Hierarchical control of rapid movement sequences. J Exp Psychol: Hum Percept Perform 1983;9:86–102.
- [116] Tremblay PL, Bedard MA, Levesque M, Chebli M, Parent M, Courtemanche R, et al. Motor sequence learning in primate: role of the D2 receptor in movement chunking during consolidation. Behav Brain Res 2009;198:231–9.
- [117] Matsumoto N, Hanakawa T, Maki S, Graybiel AM, Kimura M. Role of nigrostriatal dopamine system in learning to perform sequential motor tasks in a predictive manner. J Neurophysiol 1999;82:978–98.
- [118] Tremblay PL, Bedard MA, Langlois D, Blanchet PJ, Lemay M, Parent M. Movement chunking during sequence learning is a dopamine-dependant process: a study conducted in Parkinson's disease. Exp Brain Res 2010;205:375–85.

- [119] Boyd L, Edwards J, Siengsukon C, Vidoni E, Wessel B, Linsdell M. Motor sequence chunking is impaired by basal ganglia stroke. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2009;92:35–44.
- [120] Barnes TD, Mao JB, Hu D, Kubota Y, Dreyer AA, Stamoulis C, et al. Advance cueing produces enhanced action-boundary patterns of spike activity in the sensorimotor striatum. J Neurophysiol 2011;105:1861–78.
- [121] Graziano MS, Aflalo TN. Mapping behavioral repertoire onto the cortex. Neuron 2007;56:239-51.
- [122] Schieber MH. Constraints on somatotopic organization in the primary motor cortex. J Neurophysiol 2001;86:2125–43.
- [123] Hess G, Donoghue JP. Long-term potentiation of horizontal connections provides a mechanism to reorganize cortical motor maps. J Neurophysiol 1994;71:2543-7.
- [124] Nudo R, Milliken G, Jenkins W, Merzenich M. Use-dependent alterations of movement representations in primary motor cortex of adult squirrel monkeys. J Neurosci 1996;16:785–807.
- [125] Kleim J, Barnaby S, Cooper N, Hogg T, Reidel C, Remple M, et al. Motor learning-dependent synaptogenisis is localized to functionally reorganized motor cortex. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2002;77:63–77.
- [126] Kleim JA, Barbay S, Nudo RJ. Functional reorganization of the rat motor cortex following motor skill learning. J Neurophysiol 1998;80:3321–5.
- [127] Pascual-Leone A, Dang N, Cohen L, Brasil-Neto J, Cammarota A, Hallett M. Modulation of muscle responses evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation during the acquisition of new fine motor skills. J Neurosci 1995;74:1037–45.
- [128] Classen J, Liepert J, Wise S, Hallett M, Cohen L. Rapid plasticity of human cortical movement representation induced by practice. J Neurophysiol 1998;79:1117–23.
- [129] Monfils MH, Plautz EJ, Kleim JA. In search of the motor engram: motor map plasticity as a mechanism for encoding motor experience. Neuroscientist 2005;11:471–83.
- [130] Mandelblat-Cerf Y, Novick I, Paz R, Link Y, Freeman S, Vaadia E. The neuronal basis of long-term sensorimotor learning. J Neurosci 2011;31:300–13.
- [131] Carpenter AF, Georgopoulos AP, Pellizzer G. Motor cortical encoding of serial order in a context-recall task. Science 1999;283:1752–7.
- [132] Lu X, Hikosaka O, Miyachi S. Role of monkey cerebellar nuclei in skill for sequential movement. J Neurophysiol 1998;79:2245–54.
- [133] Muellbacher W, Ziemann U, Wissel J, Dang N, Kofler M, Facchini S, et al. Early consolidation in human primary motor cortex. Nature 2002;415:640–4.
- [134] Robertson EM, Press DZ, Pascual-Leone A. Off-line learning and the primary motor cortex. J Neurosci 2005;25:6372-8.
- [135] Galea JM, Jayaram G, Ajagbe L, Celnik P. Modulation of cerebellar excitability by polarity-specific noninvasive direct current stimulation. J Neurosci 2009;29:9115–22.
- [136] Reis J, Robertson E, Krakauer JW, Rothwell J, Marshall L, Gerloff C, et al. Consensus: "Can tDCS and TMS enhance motor learning and memory formation?". Brain Stimul 2008;1:363–9.
- [137] Boyd L, Linsdell M. Excitatory repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation to left dorsal premotor cortex enhances motor consolidation of new skills. Biomed Central Neurosci 2009;10.
- [138] Nitsche M, Jakoubkova M, Thirugnanasambandam N, Schmalfuss L, Hullemann S, Sonka K, et al. Contribution of the premotor cortex to consolidation of motor sequence learning in humans during sleep. J Neurophysiol 2010;104:2603–14.
- [139] Monfils MH, VandenBerg PM, Kleim JA, Teskey GC. Long-term potentiation induces expanded movement representations and dendritic hypertrophy in layer V of rat sensorimotor neocortex. Cereb Cortex 2004;14:586–93.
- [140] Bengtsson S, Nagy Z, Skare S, Forsman L, Forssberg H, Ullén F. Extensive piano practicing has regionally specific effects on white matter development. Nat Neurosci 2005;8:1148–50.
- [141] Hyde K, Lerch J, Norton A, Forgeard M, Winner E, Evans A, et al. Musical training shapes structural brain development. J Neurosci 2009;29:3019–25.
   [142] Landi S, Baguear F, Della-Maggiore V. One week of motor adaptation induces
- [142] Landi S, Baguear F, Della-Maggiore V. One week of motor adaptation induces structural changes in primary motor cortex that predict long-term memory one year later. J Neurosci 2011;31:11808–13.